

Magnolia Public Schools

Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting

Date and Time Thursday February 2, 2023 at 6:00 PM PST

Location

https://zoom.us/j/92205640153?pwd=cHNIWjInY0dsQmxDTjZFa0pydzR0Zz09

Meeting ID: 922 0564 0153 Passcode: 013089 One tap mobile: +16699009128,,92205640153# US (San Jose)

All members of the public can participate by calling in using the numbers provided above.

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and upon request, Magnolia Public Schools may furnish reasonable auxiliary aids and services to qualified individuals with disabilities. Members of the public who need special accommodations or translation are strongly encouraged to contact Magnolia Public Schools at least 24 hours in advance of the Board meeting so assistance can be assured.

Any public records relating to an agenda item for an open session which are distributed to all, or a majority of all, of the Board Members shall be available for public inspection. Magnolia Public Schools values public comment during Board meetings. Pursuant to AB 361 members of the public may address the Board during the Public Comment period on the day of the board meeting without the need to complete a public speaker form. We limit individual speakers to three (3) minutes and speakers with interpreters to six (6) minutes. For any questions regarding this meeting email board@magnoliapublicschools.org or call 213-628-3634 Ext. 21101.

Audit/Facilities Committee Members Mr. Mekan Muhammedov, Chair Ms. Diane Gonzalez

Mr. Daniel Sheehan Dr. Salih Dikbas (alternate)

CEO and Superintendent Mr. Alfredo Rubalcava

Agenda

	Purpose	Presenter	Time
I. Opening Items Opening Items			6:00 PM
A. Call the Meeting to Order			1 m
B. Record Attendance and Guests			1 m
C. Approval of Agenda	Vote		1 m
D. Public Comments			3 m
 E. Approval of Minutes from MPS Regular Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting - December 6, 2022 	Approve Minutes		1 m
 F. Approval of Minutes from MPS Regular Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting - January 11, 2023 	Approve Minutes		1 m
II. Recommended Action Items			6:08 PM
A. Approval of Resolutions Related to the Acquisition and Lease of 16600 Vanowen Street	Vote	Patrick Ontiveros	30 m
III. Closing Items			6:38 PM
A. Adjourn Meeting			1 m

Coversheet

Approval of Minutes from MPS Regular Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting - December 6, 2022

Section:I. Opening ItemsItem:E. Approval of Minutes from MPS Regular Audit/Facilities CommitteeMeeting - December 6, 2022Approve MinutesPurpose:Approve MinutesSubmitted by:Minutes for Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting on December 6, 2022

Magnolia Public Schools - Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting - Agenda - Thursday February 2, 2023 at 6:00 PM



Magnolia Public Schools

Minutes

Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting

Date and Time Tue Dec 6, 2022 at 5:30 PM

APPROV

Location https://zoom.us/j/92205640153?pwd=cHNIWjInY0dsQmxDTjZFa0pydzR0Zz09

Meeting ID: 922 0564 0153 Passcode: 013089 One tap mobile: +16699009128,,92205640153# US (San Jose)

Audit/Facilities Committee Members Mr. Mekan Muhammedov, Chair Ms. Diane Gonzalez Mr. Daniel Sheehan Dr. Salih Dikbas (alternate)

CEO and Superintendent Mr. Alfredo Rubalcava

Committee Members Present

D. Gonzalez (remote), D. Sheehan (remote), M. Muhammedov (remote)

Committee Members Absent None

Committee Members who arrived after the meeting opened

M. Muhammedov

I. Opening Items

A. Call the Meeting to Order

D. Gonzalez called a meeting of the Audit/Facilities Committee Committee of Magnolia Public Schools to order on Tuesday Dec 6, 2022 at 5:41 PM.

B. Record Attendance and Guests

Refer to attendance information recorded above.

C. Approval of Agenda

D. Sheehan made a motion to approve the agenda as presented.

D. Gonzalez seconded the motion.

The committee **VOTED** to approve the motion.

Roll Call

D. Gonzalez Aye D. Sheehan Aye M. Muhammedov Absent

D. Public Comments

No public comments were made at this time.

E. Approval of Minutes from MPS Regular Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting -November 3, 2022

D. Sheehan made a motion to approve the minutes from Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting on 11-03-22.

D. Gonzalez seconded the motion.

The committee **VOTED** to approve the motion.

Roll Call

M. Muhammedov Absent D. Gonzalez Aye D. Sheehan Aye

II. Closed Session

A. Public Announcement of Closed Session

D.Gonzalez, Committee Member, announced that the closed session item that will be discussed is Conference with Real Property Negotiations. Any actions will be reported out.

B. Conference with Real Property Negotiations (§ 54956.8)

This item was discussed in Closed Session. M. Muhammedov arrived at 6:16 PM.

C. Report Out of Closed Session

M.Muhammedov, Committee Chair, reported out of closed session at 6:34pm that the committee discussed certain actions proposed for the MPS real property negotiations for the property at 16600 Vanowen Street and that the Committee members voted unanimously to accept the proposal.

III. Closing Items

A. Adjourn Meeting

There being no further business to be transacted, and upon motion duly made, seconded and approved, the meeting was adjourned at 6:34 PM.

Respectfully Submitted, M. Muhammedov

Coversheet

Approval of Minutes from MPS Regular Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting - January 11, 2023

Section:I. Opening ItemsItem:F. Approval of Minutes from MPS Regular Audit/Facilities CommitteeMeeting - January 11, 2023Approve MinutesPurpose:Approve MinutesSubmitted by:Minutes for Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting on January 11, 2023

Magnolia Public Schools - Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting - Agenda - Thursday February 2, 2023 at 6:00 PM



Magnolia Public Schools

Minutes

Audit/Facilities Committee Meeting

Date and Time Wed Jan 11, 2023 at 6:00 PM

APPROV

Location https://zoom.us/j/92205640153?pwd=cHNIWjInY0dsQmxDTjZFa0pydzR0Zz09

Meeting ID: 922 0564 0153 Passcode: 013089 One tap mobile: +16699009128,,92205640153# US (San Jose)

Audit/Facilities Committee Members Mr. Mekan Muhammedov, Chair Ms. Diane Gonzalez Mr. Daniel Sheehan Dr. Salih Dikbas (alternate)

CEO and Superintendent Mr. Alfredo Rubalcava

Committee Members Present

D. Gonzalez (remote), D. Sheehan (remote), M. Muhammedov (remote)

Committee Members Absent

I. Opening Items

A. Call the Meeting to Order

M. Muhammedov called a meeting of the Audit/Facilities Committee Committee of Magnolia Public Schools to order on Wednesday Jan 11, 2023 at 6:04 PM.

B. Record Attendance and Guests

Refer to attendance information recorded above.

C. Approval of Agenda

D. Gonzalez made a motion to approve the agenda as presented.D. Sheehan seconded the motion.The committee **VOTED** unanimously to approve the motion.

Roll Call

D. Sheehan Aye M. Muhammedov Aye

D. Gonzalez Aye

D. Public Comments

No public comments were made at this time.

II. Recommended Action Items

A. Recommendation Regarding Waiver of Contingencies for the Purchase of the Property at 16600 Vanowen Street

Since going into escrow for the property at 16600 Vanowen Street, staff has been undergoing an array of due diligence work and continuously engaging with Veronica, Land Use Consultant. P.Ontiveros, General Counsel & Director of Facilities, added that since speaking with lender, CLI Capital, staff received a commitment letter from them to finance the purchase for this property. He mentioned that the terms listed were fairly close to what staff had modeled out prior to the start of winter break. According to the term sheet, once passed the entitlement phase and moving on to the construction phase, CLI Capital will finance 100% of the project. Waiving the contingencies is the next step. The \$400,000 that is in the good faith deposit in escrow will become non-refundable once the contingencies are waived, and that money will go towards the overall purchase price. The contingency period expires January 13th and after will have 45 days to close. He mentioned the positive experience from working with CLI Capital in other facilities projects. He also mentioned the strategies to ensure the affordability of this which is seeking entitlements and and selling a few acres of the property. Veronica has spoken with the Neighborhood Council and a representative from the Council Office about this project and its plans and said it was received favorably. Committee Members questions were addressed by staff. D. Gonzalez made a motion to approve the following actions: (1) the waiver of the contingencies by the deadline of January 13, 2023 for the purchase of the property located at 16600 Vanowen Street in Van Nuys (the "Property") and the release of good faith funds from escrow in the amount of \$400,000 (inclusive which shall be immediately non-refundable, (2) the financing of the purchase of the Property pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in that certain term sheet dated January 10, 2023 by CLI Capital, (3) the execution by the MPS CEO and Superintendent, or his designees, of such documents and instruments as may be necessary to undertake and complete the foregoing actions and (4) for the Committee to recommend and move that the Board adopt the same.

D. Sheehan seconded the motion.

The committee VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

Roll Call

D. Gonzalez Aye D. Sheehan Aye M. Muhammedov Aye

B. Approval of Design & Engineering Contract with DLR Group for the Magnolia Science Academy-5 Winnetka Ave Project Proposal is to approve DLR Group as the architect of record for the project at 7111 Winnetka Ave. P.Ontiveros, General Counsel & Director of Facilities, provided context and background of the project so far. He added that once MPS received the facilities award from the Office of Public Schools Construction under their Charter School Facilities Program of approximately \$50 million, the staff primarily Facilities Department spearheaded the effort to close on finalizing a property for MSA-5. Facilities Department prepared an RFP and published it before interviewing the interested candidates. Ultimately, staff decided that DLR Group was the best fit for this project. Mark S., Architect Project Manager, and Andrew T., Principal At-Charge, from DLR group introduced themselves to the Committee, public and staff. They provided their previous background of similar projects. Committee Members questions were addressed by the representatives from DLR Group.

D. Sheehan made a motion to approve the selection of DLR Group to provide architectural and engineering services for MSA-5's new construction project at 7111 Winnetka Ave in Winnetka (the "Project") for a total fee of \$1,765,500 and further approve that MPS Staff be authorized to negotiate and sign a professional services contract for said services in such form as MPS Staff may deem appropriate and in the best interests of MPS. Furthermore, for the Committee to approve and recommend that the Board adopts the same.

D. Gonzalez seconded the motion.

The committee **VOTED** unanimously to approve the motion.

Roll Call

D. Gonzalez Aye M. Muhammedov Aye D. Sheehan Aye

III. Closing Items

A. Adjourn Meeting

There being no further business to be transacted, and upon motion duly made, seconded and approved, the meeting was adjourned at 6:46 PM.

Respectfully Submitted, M. Muhammedov

Coversheet

Approval of Resolutions Related to the Acquisition and Lease of 16600 Vanowen Street

Section: Item:	II. Recommended Action Items A. Approval of Resolutions Related to the Acquisition and Lease of 16600
Vanowen Street Purpose:	Vote
Submitted by: Related Material:	Revised - Resolutions Related to 16600 Vanowen Street.pdf





Agenda Item #:	II A: Recommended Action Item
Date:	February 2, 2023
To:	Magnolia Educational & Research Foundation dba Magnolia Public Schools (" <u>MPS</u> ") Board of Directors (the " <u>Board</u> ") & Audit and Facilities Committee (the " <u>Committee</u> ")
From:	Alfredo Rubalcava, CEO & Superintendent
Staff Lead:	Patrick Ontiveros, General Counsel & Director of Facilities
RE:	Approval of Resolutions Related to 16600 Vanowen Street

I. Proposed Recommendation(s)

Staff recommends and moves that the MPS Committee approve the following actions:

(1) the assignment by MPS to MPM 16600 Vanowen Street LLC (the "<u>Vanowen Street LLC</u>") of all its right, title and interest in and to that certain agreement for the purchase of the property located at 16600 Vanowen Street (APNs: 2231-007-008, -016 and -017) (the "<u>Vanowen Street Property</u>") including the right to take title to the Property and the good faith deposit made by MPS;

(2) the execution by the MPS CEO, CFO or their designees, of a lease agreement by and between MPS and Vanowen Street LLC (the "<u>Lease</u>") for the use and occupancy of the Vanowen Street Property by Magnolia Science Academy—2 ("<u>MSA-2</u>");

(3) under the Lease, the payment by MPS to Vanowen Street LLC of non-refundable advanced rent in an amount equal to approximately \$3,100,000, consisting of (i) \$400,000 from the assignment of the good faith deposit made by MPS to escrow for the Vanowen Street Property and (ii) approximately \$2,700,000 in cash;

(4) the execution by the MPS CEO, CFO or their designees, on behalf of Vanowen Street LLC, as its sole manager of such documents and instruments as may be necessary in order for Vanowen Street LLC to acquire the Vanowen Street Property, including any loan documents; and

(5) the execution by the MPS CEO and Superintendent, CFO, or their designees, of such documents and instruments as may be necessary to undertake and complete the foregoing actions.

Staff recommends and moves that the MPS Committee recommend and move that the MPS Board adopt the foregoing resolutions.

February 2, 2023 & February 9, 2023 Page 2



II. Background

MSA-2 Co-Location Use Agreement

MSA-2 operates on Birmingham Community Charter High School ("**BCCHS**") campus pursuant to a co-location use agreement ("**CUA**") with the Los Angeles Unified School District ("**LAUSD**"). By its terms the CUA is co-terminus with MSA-2's charter. Originally, MSA-2's charter was scheduled to expire in June 2022. However, when the State of California through legislation provided an extension for all charters expiring during the COVID pandemic, MSA-2's charter was extended for two years, now expiring in June 2024. Notwithstanding, LAUSD asserted that such extension was inapplicable to the CUA and that MSA-2 was required to submit an application for Prop 39 space commencing with the 2022-23 school year, with no guarantee that MSA-2 would remain on the BCCHS campus. MPS disputed LAUSD's position. After negotiation, MPS and LAUSD agreed that MSA-2 could remain on the BCCHS property through the 2023-24 school year. Thereafter, MSA-2 will be required to apply for space under Prop 39. In fact, MSA-2 submitted a Prop 39 application when the CUA's interpretation was being disputed by LAUSD. Around the time that the MPS and LAUSD came to a resolution, LAUSD prepared a response to the Prop 39 application which revealed that LAUSD intended to split the MSA-2 campus in two.

16600 Vanowen Street Purchase

At its October 6, 2022 meeting, the Committee approved and ratified the execution by MPS of the purchase and sale agreement for the acquisition of the Property and approved MPS to engage in due diligence activities. At the Board's meeting on October 13, 2022 it approved and ratified the same. Committee and Board members expressed a desire to have MPS Staff to extend the due diligence period. MPS Staff negotiated an extension to the contingency period by releasing \$40,000, non-refundable, to the Seller from escrow. This action extended the due diligence period to expire on January 13, 2023. The Committee and Board

MPS Staff has advised MSA-5's charter authorizer, the Los Angeles County Office of Education ("<u>LACOE</u>"), of its desire to purchase and develop the Property. LACOE acknowledged that MPS fulfilled its obligation to LACOE by notifying them of the transaction.

MPS proposes to purchase the Property with a loan from CLI Capital according to the terms reflected in a term sheet dated January 10, 2023, a copy of which is attached as <u>Exhibit A</u>. CLI Capital and MPS still need to negotiate final terms but the term sheet is substantially similar to the term sheets received by MPS for the purchase of the 7111 Winnetka Ave and 18242 Sherman Way. MPS will assign the PSA to Vanowen Street LLC, a subsidiary of Magnolia Properties Management, Inc. ("<u>MPM</u>"), a 501(c)(3) support corporation for MPS. When MPS assigns the PSA to Vanowen Street LLC, MPS will enter into a lease for the Property, for the benefit of MSA-2 with the LLC.

III. Purpose

The purpose of the proposed action is to proceed with the acquisition of the Property for the benefit of MSA-2. MSA-2's co-location use agreement ("<u>CUA</u>") with the Los Angeles Unified School District ("<u>LAUSD</u>") for the occupancy of the Birmingham Community Charter High School ("<u>BCCHS</u>") campus expires after the 2023-24 school year.

February 2, 2023 & February 9, 2023 Page 3



Current Requested Actions

Assignment of Right to Take Title and Execution of New Lease

MPS Staff recommends assigning the purchase agreement and all rights and interests in it to Vanowen Street LLC which will hold title to the Vanowen Street Property at the close of escrow. This structure will allow MERF to receive SB740 funding. Vanowen Street LLC will lease the Vanowen Street Property to MPS for the benefit and occupancy by MSA-2 under a new lease agreement.

Payment of Non-Refundable Advanced Rent to Vanowen Street LLC and Execution of Lease

MPS Staff recommends that MPS pay advanced rent to Vanowen Street LLC of approximately \$3,100,000, consisting of the good faith deposit of \$400,000 made by MPS and assigned by MPS to Vanowen Street LLC and cash of \$2,700,000, and sign the Lease.

Vanowen Street LLC is receiving a loan from CLI Capital to purchase the Vanowen Street Property. The acquisition loan is for \$11,800,000. The balance of the acquisition cost including the balance of the purchase price, and closing costs will exceed such amount, requiring Vanowen Street LLC to pay the difference. Therefore, the advanced rent payment is needed by Vanowen Street LLC in order to close escrow on the purchase of the Vanowen Street Property. The total commitment from CLI Capital is for financing of \$27,000,000, \$11,800,000 of which is for acquisition purposes and the balance of \$15,200,000 of which is for construction and related costs.

Separately, Vanowen Street LLC's sole member MPM has authorized or will authorize the receipt of the acquisition loan from CLI Capital.

MPS must sign the Lease with Vanowen Street LLC in order for MSA-2 to use and occupy the Vanowen Street Property. The rent payable to Vanowen Street LLC under the Lease is, or will be, equal to the debt service Vanowen Street LLC will pay to CLI Capital.

Signature of Loan Documents by MPS as Sole Manager of Vanowen Street LLC

Vanowen Street LLC's sole manager is MPS. As such MPS's CEO, CFO or such other appropriate officer will be required to sign the loan documents with CLI Capital on Vanowen Street LLC's behalf.

IV. Conclusion / Budget Impact

The projected acquisition cost for the Vanowen Street Property is \$14,900,000 (that is, the purchase price, broker's fee, CLI Capital's commitment fee, and miscellaneous closing costs) and will be paid for with an acquisition loan from CLI Capital in the amount of \$11,800,000, representing approximately 85% of the acquisition costs and the balance will be paid for with cash from MSA-2, via a nonrefundable advanced rent deposit to Vanowen Street LLC under the Lease. MSA-2 will commence paying lease payments in April 2023 which will then allow the Vanowen Street LLC to commence making interest only payments on the CLI Capital loan.

February 2, 2023 & February 9, 2023 Page 4



Exhibit A Term Sheet

230202 - MPS - Board and Committee Report re Purchase of 16600 Vanowen Street and Related Actions (v2)





Exhibit A

CLI Capital Term Sheet for the Financing of the Acquisition of 16600 Vanowen Street



January 10, 2023

Via e-mail

Magnolia Educational & Research Foundation Board of Directors % John Buck, Buck Financial Advisors, LLC

RE: Property acquisition and construction loan - "MSA-2 Project"

This will constitute the commitment of CLI Capital ("CLI") to loan to Magnolia Property Management, Inc. or a wholly owned single asset entity ("Borrower"), the sum of up to Twenty Seven Million Dollars (\$27,000,000), less any title insurance, appraisal costs, mortgage registration tax, origination fees and all other closing costs and expense that may be incurred by CLI in connection with the funding and collection of the loan. This is a commitment to provide financing based on the contingencies located within this letter. This letter is not intended to be an all-encompassing document but a formal communication of approval, commitment of terms, and identification of contingencies and other requirements to facilitate closing in a reasonable time frame. The actual loan documents supersede all terms and conditions of this letter.

The acceptance of this commitment must be indicated by Borrower's signing and returning this letter no later than 5:00 pm Central time on January 31, 2023. If this commitment is not accepted within the specified time frame, CLI may extend the commitment (required to be in writing), allow the commitment to terminate, or issue a revised commitment (required to be in writing). The acceptance of this commitment will be the Borrower's authorization for CLI to withhold from the proceeds of the loan any closing costs or expenses associated with making the loan.

I. Loan Structure and Pricing

The loan will be structured as an advancing note for the purchase of the property located at 16600 Vanowen Street in Van Nuys, California and related improvements. The initial loan advance will be for closing costs associated with the loan. Subsequent advances will be for the purpose of property acquisition and construction in accordance with the construction contracts and construction budget as approved by CLI.

- It is anticipated that the transaction will close in February of 2023. If an earlier closing is desired, closing may occur within 10 business days of CLI's receipt of all Contingencies and Requirements listed below.
- 2) The note will have a maturity date of February 1, 2028. On that date all unpaid principal, accrued interest, and other charges allowed under the note will be due.
- 3) The interest rate will be a floating rate based on the Wall Street Journal Prime rate plus a margin of 1.50%. The interest rate will have a 5.75% floor. Interest will accrue daily on the outstanding unpaid principal balance.

- Land Closing Funding. At the closing of the land purchase, CLI will initially advance up to \$11.8M to fund the purchase of the land. This amount works out to 85% of the appraised value of the land, plus an allowance for closing fees and costs.
- 5) <u>Repayment</u>. Monthly interest payments will be required on the outstanding loan balance beginning April 1, 2023 and continue until the construction project begins.
 - a. Once construction draws begin, monthly payments of interest and/or principal will no longer be required until construction completion (expected March 2026).
 - i. <u>Construction Draws</u>. Construction draws may be funded upon the completion of the following project development milestones:
 - 1. Zoning and usage is changed as planned;
 - 2. The sale of the "excess land" has taken place resulting in a principal paydown of at least \$5 Million;
 - 3. The final construction plans, construction budget, and campus operating budget have been approved by CLI in writing and appraised by a qualified third party appraiser.
 - 4. Construction draws advanced by CLI will be limited to the lesser of 100% construction costs, or 100% of appraised value.
 - 5. Up to \$500,000 may be advanced to Borrower for the reimbursement of development expenses previously incurred once the construction period has commenced, subject to the appraised value limitation discussed above.
 - b. If construction draw advances have not begun by March 2025, monthly principal and interest payments will be required until construction draws begin. The payments will be based on a 20 year amortization schedule.
 - c. Once construction is complete, (expected by March 2026) any outstanding interest will be capitalized to the loan's principal balance. Monthly payments of principal and interest based on a 30 year amortization will then be required for the remainder of the loan term.
- 6) Borrower will pay to Lender an origination fee of 2% of the total loan commitment in conjunction with the closing of the loan. Borrower may pay this and/or all of its closing costs with an advance on the loan.
- 7) The loan may be prepaid at any time without penalty.

II. Contingencies and other Requirements

This commitment shall be subject to the following conditions:

- 1) Borrower shall return a signed copy of this commitment letter to CLI on or before the expiration date listed above.
- 2) The loan shall be secured by a first mortgage lien on the property purchased and an assignment of all rents, leases, contracts, etc. concerning the property. The lease between Borrower and the tenant must be reviewed and approved by CLI prior to closing. Said property shall be subject to no other liens or encumbrances unless otherwise approved by CLI in writing. Payments made to other related entities for management fees or other similar expenses may be restricted by the lender in the event of an uncured default under the loan documents.

- The loan will be made pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by the Borrower and CLI consistent with the terms of this commitment and such other normal covenants of the Lender's loan agreement.
- 4) That a mortgage title insurance policy in the face amount of not less than the total amount of the loan be issued by a title insurance company acceptable to CLI, insuring CLI is the holder of a good and valid first lien mortgage upon the real estate securing the loan.
- 5) During the term of the loan Borrower agrees to periodically supply CLI with financial statements, reports, and any other pertinent financial or statistical data as reasonably requested by CLI.
- 6) The loan agreement will include a limitation on MERF/MPM borrowing additional debt without obtaining prior written approval by CLI, subject to a de-minimis aggregate amount of \$1,000,000. Please note that the \$50.8M grant/loan that has been recently awarded regarding the MSA5 campus project is approved by CLI.
- 7) Borrower will be required to furnish to CLI evidence of builder's risk coverage/hazard insurance in an amount not less than the amount of the note. The policy is to provide for customary builders risk coverages, fire, and extended coverage on the entire facility. CLI is to be listed as mortgagee and loss payee. Evidence of such coverage must be furnished prior to loan funding and approved by CLI.
- 8) Borrower will provide a full project budget and related construction contract prior to funding loan advances beyond the initial closing advance, which must be approved by CLI. No construction changes or modifications will be made to the construction budget without the expressed written consent of CLI. Construction draws will be processed using normal and customary AIA Construction Progress Draw Forms. Construction draws must be approved by the architect supervising the project. The construction draw process will be monitored by a third party construction monitoring agent as selected or approved by CLI. The costs related to this monitoring agent will be paid by Borrower. These costs are estimated at \$450 per construction draw.
- 9) Borrower agrees to pay all lender's costs associated with this loan, including legal fees for document preparation (estimated to be 8,000), flood searches (estimated at \$16) and environmental assessment (estimated at \$500). If the environmental assessment indicates any potential environmental issues, a Phase 1 must be obtained and approved by CLI prior to closing. If Borrower has already obtained a Phase 1 on the property the \$500 environmental assessment charge will be waived. Note: CLI has been provided a Phase 1 which suggested soil sample testing. Please forward the results of these soil sample tests to CLI so they may be reviewed by CLI and approved by CLI in writing.
- 10) CLI and Borrower must review and approve all legal documents prior to closing and CLI and or its legal counsel must review and approve the corporate documentation of the Borrower and other entities involved in the transaction prior to closing.
- 11) The parties represent and agree that CLI is a resident of Potter County, Texas and that Borrower has contacted CLI in Potter County, Texas and this contract has been negotiated, in whole or in part, in Potter County, Texas. The parties further represent and agree that all notices and all payments to CLI are to be made in Potter County, Texas.
- 12) Based on the foregoing representations, the parties agree that this contract is to be governed by the laws of the state of Texas, and that jurisdiction of any dispute over interpretation or enforcement of this contract is proper in a district court in the state of Texas, which location would not be unreasonably inconvenient, or unjust. The parties therefore designate that any suit brought to interpret or enforce this contract shall be brought in a district court in Potter County, Texas, or in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas, Amarillo Division.

We look forward to working with you in connection with this transaction.

Sincerely,

2/

Travis David Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer CLI Capital

This commitment has been agreed to and accepted by the undersigned on behalf of Borrower

Signature

Printed Name and Title / Date

cc: Lender's Counsel